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          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS AND HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Good evening, or

          3  good afternoon everybody. Thank you and welcome to

          4  this joint -- are we ready?

          5                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS MARTINEZ: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Okay. Good

          7  afternoon, and welcome to this joint hearing of the

          8  Committees on Governmental Operations and Health. I

          9  am Simcha Felder, I'm Chair of the Committee. I am

         10  joined by my colleagues, I will only introduce those

         11  colleagues that are on my Committee and I'll give

         12  Chairman Rivera the opportunity to introduce those

         13  that are on his Committee. Council Member Peter

         14  Vallone. Thank you for being here, despite the fact

         15  that you have a PTA meeting to go to very soon, we

         16  appreciate you being here whatever amount of time

         17  you can stay.

         18                 I'd also like to acknowledge the

         19  staff of the Committee that diligently prepared

         20  today's hearing. To my left is DeNora Getachew, the

         21  Counsel to the Committee on Governmental Operations.

         22  All the way to my left is Israel Rodriguez, the

         23  Policy Analyst to the Committee. Also, sitting in

         24  front of me with the laptop computer is Michael

         25  Cassatano, who is my Legislative Aid, and that's it.
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          2                 As a follow-up to the hearing that

          3  the Government Ops Committee conducted on Thursday,

          4  November 8th, regarding the Mayor's Management

          5  Report, My Neighborhood Statistics, today the

          6  Committee is conducting an oversight hearing

          7  focusing specifically on the My Neighborhood

          8  Statistics, relating to the enrollment of public

          9  health insurance as it relates to the Bronx.

         10                 The Committees are also considering

         11  proposed Intro. No. 293-A, which is a local law that

         12  would make applications for Child Health Plus

         13  available in public schools and day care centers. As

         14  we stated at the Committee's hearing on the My

         15  Neighborhood Statistics two weeks ago, I think it's

         16  important that local communities are aware of the

         17  availability of these statistics, which is why I

         18  felt that it was important for us to conduct this

         19  field hearing on the MNS, My Neighborhood

         20  Statistics. You know that no hearing would be a

         21  hearing without some acronym that no one

         22  understands. So, MNS from now on is My Neighborhood

         23  Statistics, and I bring it to the attention of the

         24  residents in the Bronx.

         25                 Next year the Council plans to hold
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          2  hearings on the MNS, My Neighborhood Statistics, in

          3  every borough, but it is definitely a great start

          4  for us to discuss the issue as important as

          5  availability of enrollment in public health

          6  insurance in the Bronx.

          7                 In case you are not familiar with the

          8  My Neighborhood Statistics, it is a document that

          9  the Mayor's Office of Operations is charged with

         10  preparing.

         11                 Briefly, the My Neighborhood

         12  Statistics are an on-line resource to provide City

         13  residents with locally matched statistics about how

         14  City agencies are performing or delivering services

         15  in their neighborhood.

         16                 I would digress for a moment to make

         17  clear that the statistics are done by zip code --

         18  community board, so that some neighborhoods where

         19  community boards may include three or four entirely

         20  different populations with entirely different

         21  numbers, you won't see that reflected because it's

         22  done by a community board as a whole.

         23                 So, it's a good resource, but it's

         24  certainly not perfect. To obtain these statistics,

         25  the constituent can visit the MNS website available
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          2  while visiting City's website at www.nyc.gov. And

          3  all you have to do is insert an address or

          4  intersection, and the constituent will receive

          5  year-to-year neighborhood and Citywide comparisons

          6  for agency performance data, as well as

          7  month-to-month Citywide comparisons for select

          8  service requested through 3-1-1 Citizen Service

          9  Center.

         10                 The purposes of today's joint hearing

         11  are to discuss the My Neighborhood Statistics on

         12  access to public health insurance, and what

         13  government and others in the City are doing to

         14  improve enrollment in public health insurance and

         15  accurately track that enrollment.

         16                 In addition, the Committees look

         17  forward to hearing testimony from members of the

         18  community about what the City is doing well in this

         19  critically important area, and what can be improved,

         20  as well as consider a proposed Council bill that

         21  would seek to address this problem by requiring the

         22  City to make applications for Child Health Plus

         23  available in public schools and day care centers.

         24                 Before I turn it over to my esteemed

         25  colleague, Chair Rivera, I just want to mention
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          2  that, again, the role in the hearings that we

          3  conduct is that if you don't sign up to testify

          4  within the first 15 minutes of the hearing, the

          5  beginning, I don't mean when it was supposed to

          6  begin, I mean from when it started, then you won't

          7  be able to testify.

          8                 So, if you think you might want to

          9  testify, you can always change your mind and then

         10  decline, but if you would like to, please sign up.

         11                 And with that, I turn it over to you,

         12  Chairman Rivera.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         14  much, my Co-Chair.

         15                 First, I want to thank everybody for

         16  coming out here to the Bronx, my home Borough, and

         17  Councilwoman Maria del Carmen Arroyo's home

         18  district, which is at Hostos Community College,

         19  which is one of our first colleges. And we have our

         20  president right here in the background. If you can

         21  raise your hand and everyone can acknowledge

         22  Deloris. Stand up. Stand up. Don't be shy. Deloris

         23  Fernandez is our host, the President of Hostos

         24  Community College. I want to thank you for opening

         25  up your doors to us.
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          2                 Good afternoon. My name is Joel

          3  Rivera. I'm the Chair of the Health Committee. Today

          4  we are here to discuss as my Council colleague, my

          5  Co-Chair Simcha Felder mentioned, the My

          6  Neighborhood Statistics Program, which indicates

          7  about 557,000 people in the Bronx alone are involved

          8  in Medicaid, Family Health Plus and Child Health

          9  Plus. And although this is representative of the

         10  public population, at least one estimate found that

         11  there are maybe 100,000 adults and children in the

         12  Bronx who are eligible for public insurance but who

         13  are not enrolled.

         14                 For many years the City Council has

         15  been concerned about access to health insurance and

         16  quality health care. We know that people who don't

         17  have health insurance often do not receive adequate

         18  care.

         19                 Uninsured children and adults are

         20  less likely to see a doctor regularly, more likely

         21  to use emergency rooms and more likely to have unmet

         22  health care needs. Without adequate health care,

         23  these people will develop problems that could have

         24  been prevented or corrected early on, but instead

         25  turned into serious conditions.
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          2                 The lack of insurance is not just a

          3  problem for the insured, it is also a burden on the

          4  City's health care system and its taxpayers.

          5                 Each year our hospitals spend

          6  billions of dollars treating the uninsured. Some of

          7  this expense could have undoubtedly been prevented

          8  if these individuals received regular preventive

          9  care.

         10                 We are here today to talk about what

         11  the Bloomberg Administration has been doing to help

         12  more people get enrolled and stay enrolled in the

         13  public health insurance programs.

         14                 We also hope to hear from advocates

         15  and members of the public about their experiences

         16  with the public health insurance industry.

         17                 In addition, the Committees will hear

         18  testimony about proposed Intro. 293. This

         19  legislation is sponsored by my colleague,

         20  Councilwoman James, and it requires a distribution

         21  of applications for Child Health Plus at schools and

         22  day care centers.

         23                 The legislation is designed to

         24  increase the enrollment in the Child Health

         25  Insurance Program by making applications easier to
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          2  obtain. I am glad that we can once again focus on

          3  the important issue of enrollment in public health

          4  insurance programs. It is important that all of us

          5  in the City continue to work hard to ensure that all

          6  of us citizens get the best quality health care they

          7  can.

          8                 We've also been joined by other

          9  members of our Committee. To my far right we have

         10  Council Member John Liu from Queens, we have

         11  Councilwoman Rosie Mendez from Manhattan, and Peter

         12  Vallone over there. We have the Majority Whip, Inez

         13  Dickens, here with us from Upper Manhattan. And to

         14  my left, we have Council Member Kendall Stewart from

         15  Brooklyn and Councilwoman Helen Sears from Queens.

         16                 At this point in time I guess we will

         17  move on?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Sure.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, thank you.

         20                 We're going to introduce Marjorie

         21  Cadogan, Executive Deputy Commissioner for the HRA

         22  Office of Citywide Health Insurance Access. And also

         23  Joyce Weinstein, Assistant Commissioner, as well,

         24  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene.

         25                 State your name for the record,
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          2  introduce yourselves, and you may begin.

          3                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          4  CADOGAN: Good afternoon, Chairman Rivera, Chairman

          5  Felder, members of the Health Committee and the

          6  Government Operations Committee.

          7                 I am Marjorie Cadogan, the Executive

          8  Deputy Commissioner of the Human Resources

          9  Administration's Office of Citywide Health Insurance

         10  Access. With me today is Joyce Weinstein, Assistant

         11  Commissioner of the Bureau of Health Insurance

         12  Programs, Division of Health Care Access and

         13  Improvement of the Department of Health and Mental

         14  Hygiene.

         15                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         16  speak with you today about enrollment in public

         17  health insurance and the City proposed Intro. 293,

         18  which would make applications for Child Health Plus

         19  available in public schools and day care centers.

         20                 Enrolling uninsured children and

         21  adults who are eligible for public health insurance

         22  but not enrolled is a longstanding priority for

         23  Mayor Bloomberg.

         24                 Since Mayor Bloomberg took office,

         25  enrollment in public health insurance programs
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          2  administered by HRA has increased by 51 percent. As

          3  of October 2007, approximately 2.6 million adults

          4  and children in New York City who are enrolled in

          5  HRA administer public health insurance programs, and

          6  152,000 additional children in the City were insured

          7  through the State's Child Health Plus B Program.

          8                 The mission of my office, the Office

          9  of Citywide Health Insurance Access, is to expand

         10  access to health insurance for all New Yorkers.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Excuse me. I want

         12  to thank you for preparing extensive testimony,

         13  which we'll put into the record, but I think for the

         14  sake of efficiency, if you don't mind, if you can

         15  highlight those things that --

         16                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         17  CADOGAN: I will go through and curtail some of the

         18  listings as we go through.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Some of the

         20  members, like myself, may have Attention Deficit

         21  Disorder, and you have very long testimony, you

         22  know, I just can't handle it.

         23                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         24  CADOGAN: I will keep it interesting for the entire

         25  Committee.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: If you can focus

          3  on the important stuff and leave the rest, we would

          4  appreciate it.

          5                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          6  CADOGAN: Okay, I will take that to know.

          7                 Our priorities are two-fold, to

          8  ensure that New Yorkers eligible public health

          9  insurance are enrolled to expand access to

         10  affordable health insurance for the City's

         11  businesses, sole proprietors and working

         12  individuals.

         13                 A cornerstone of the City's outreach

         14  and enrollment efforts is the Mayor's HealthStat

         15  initiative, a citywide campaign coordinated and

         16  overseen by my office. The HealthStat initiative

         17  mobilizes the work of 14 City agencies, community

         18  and faith-based organizations, managed care plans,

         19  and other private organizations to identify and

         20  enroll eligible residents in public coverage.

         21                 Already more than 80,000 people have

         22  applied for public coverage through the HealthStat

         23  initiative. Since the start of the Bloomberg

         24  Administration, close to one-half million have done

         25  so.
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          2                 Together, HRA and its HealthStat

          3  partners design and implement strategies that

          4  identify uninsured populations and assist families

          5  with accessing facilitated enrollment. These

          6  strategies target children and adults and

          7  populations at risk for remaining uninsured, through

          8  a myriad of efforts.

          9                 HRA's Medical Insurance and Community

         10  Services Association (sic), which administers the

         11  Medicaid program and the Family Health Program,

         12  Family Health Plus Program in New York, is

         13  responsible for enrollment of all individuals and

         14  families into these public health insurance

         15  programs. HRA has taken many steps to help eligible

         16  individuals enroll.  For example:

         17                 - Beginning 2002, HRA undertook a

         18  major initiative to transform its 19 Community

         19  Medicaid Offices to make them more easy for New

         20  Yorkers to apply for public health insurance

         21  coverage.

         22                 Another initiative that HRA engaged

         23  in in collaboration with the Health and Hospitals

         24  Corporation, is to enlist outpatient clinic

         25  personnel in reminding patients to renew their
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          2  public health insurance coverage and assist them in

          3  doing so at their next scheduled appointment.

          4                 Since starting next year HRA will

          5  begin implementing New York State's policies

          6  permitting presumptive eligibility for children,

          7  making it even easier for children to obtain

          8  coverage, this will be done by a number of federally

          9  qualified health centers across the City.

         10                 Additionally, recognizing that many

         11  eligible children and adults face barriers to public

         12  health insurance related to the application process,

         13  New York State created a facilitated enrollment

         14  program in 2000. Facilitated enrollers are

         15  community-based organizations and managed care plans

         16  that assist families in the enrollment process. They

         17  are situated in diverse neighborhood settings, and

         18  often available during the evening and weekend hours

         19  so that families can apply for coverage without

         20  having to miss work.

         21                 Many of them speak more than one

         22  language, so that they are especially able to assist

         23  non-English speaking families in completing and

         24  submitting applications.

         25                 Moreover, since applicants have to do
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          2  a face-to-face interview with an authorized person

          3  before they can enroll in a public health insurance

          4  program, meeting with facilitated enrollers fulfills

          5  this requirement and saves individuals or families

          6  eligible for Medicaid or Family Health Plus from

          7  making the separate trip to the local social service

          8  office. For children eligible for Child Health Plus

          9  B, facilitated enrollers can enroll those applicants

         10  directly into a health plan.

         11                 The City has established many avenues

         12  for enabling individuals to obtain information about

         13  public health insurance. New Yorkers do not even

         14  need to leave their home to get such information.

         15  Using the tool that probably many of you are aware

         16  about, ACCESS NYC, an Internet-based system,

         17  families can print out a public health insurance

         18  application that is partially completed using

         19  information entered into the system and take it to a

         20  facilitated enroller or apply directly at a

         21  Community Medicaid office.

         22                 Similarly, individuals can call 3-1-1

         23  to learn about public and private health coverage

         24  and be referred for more help. Between January and

         25  September, approximately 18,000 people called 3-1-1
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          2  asking for information about public health

          3  insurance, which is an average of 2,000 calls per

          4  month.

          5                 Another way families can learn about

          6  3-1-1 is -- one way in which families learn about

          7  3-1-1 is through the existing Local Law 1 pamphlet,

          8  referred to in Local Law 1.

          9                 As specified by the law, designated

         10  agencies must disseminate the pamphlets to

         11  individuals when they apply or renew applications,

         12  or when they seek changes of address.

         13                 Together with public and private

         14  sector partners, City agencies also employ numerous

         15  strategies on the ground, in neighborhoods, at

         16  events, at agency offices, healthcare facilities,

         17  and in schools, to enroll eligible children and

         18  families in public health insurance.

         19                 For example, through HealthStat,

         20  OCHIA works with a number of agencies that provide

         21  services to potentially eligible young adults and

         22  older adults to devise strategies and help

         23  facilitate public health insurance enrollment

         24  efforts. And I'm not going to go through the full

         25  listing here, but only pointing to a few for your
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          2  information.

          3                 The Department of Small Business

          4  Services, which places facilitated enrollers at its

          5  Workforce 1 Career Centers to conduct outreach and

          6  enroll jobseekers in public health insurance; the

          7  Housing Authority hosts public health insurance

          8  outreach and enrollment activities at its

          9  developments and service sites, including Section 8

         10  and General Application Offices; the New York City

         11  Fire Department organizes joint fire safety and

         12  public health insurance enrollment opportunities

         13  throughout neighborhoods; and the City of New York's

         14  Office of Student Affairs, which connects students

         15  to health insurance coverage, and provides

         16  administrators with tools and resources that

         17  facilitate enrollment on its 18 campuses.

         18                 We are working with CUNY right now to

         19  develop a program that would advance a health

         20  insurance advocate for each of the CUNY campuses and

         21  also to develop systems to collect information about

         22  students' health insurance status during

         23  registration, so that outreach and enrollment can be

         24  challenged to those who need it.

         25                 We also work with a number of
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          2  additional partners to outreach immigrant adults and

          3  children.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Excuse me.

          5                 Can I make a suggestion, please?

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          7  CADOGAN: Surely.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Can we go on page

          9  15 that deals with today's, with really the topic

         10  for today. If you don't mind, if you can share with

         11  us your personal feeling about Intro. 293.

         12                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         13  CADOGAN: I certainly can. And I only was pointing

         14  out the efforts to indicate what the City is doing

         15  at the community's request, so you have a full

         16  picture, Council member.

         17                 Turning to page 15, the City of New

         18  York really supports the intent of the bill and

         19  applauds the Council's interest in ensuring that all

         20  eligible uninsured children and adults are enrolled

         21  in public health insurance.

         22                 However, we have concerns about

         23  several aspects about the proposed bill.

         24                 First, public health insurance

         25  programs applications are developed and produced by
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          2  New York State, so the City cannot control the

          3  quantity or the availability of those applications.

          4                 Second, with the ACCESS NYC

          5  application, all family members enroll in public

          6  health insurance at one time. The Growing Up Healthy

          7  application, which I believe is the application

          8  identified in the bill as the application for Child

          9  Health Plus is only for children and increasingly is

         10  not used.

         11                 Third, in light of the extensive and

         12  culturally competent assistance available through

         13  facilitated enrollers at community Medicaid offices,

         14  merely providing applications to families

         15  shortchanged their needs when seeking public health

         16  insurance. Making the application available will

         17  also not eliminate the need for individuals and

         18  families to meet with these enrollers to comply with

         19  the program's requirement for a face-to-face

         20  interview.

         21                 To ensure that all those eligible for

         22  public health insurance are enrolled, we believe no

         23  approaches for identifying and engaging eligible

         24  individuals and families are needed.

         25                 There is also a need to focus on

                                                            22

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS AND HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  retention of coverage for children and adults, who

          3  have public health insurance but who then lose it.

          4                 The State has made efforts to

          5  simplify the renewal process and starting next year

          6  the renewal application for adults will be

          7  simplified to allow attestation of income.

          8                 While we applaud these efforts, more

          9  changes are needed to enable children and adults to

         10  maintain continuous coverage for at least two years

         11  in order to improve continuity of coverage. Thank

         12  you for the opportunity to testify about precinct

         13  enrollment. We share the Council's interest in

         14  improving access to public health insurance and very

         15  much appreciate your support in advancing new

         16  outreach and enrollment strategies for reaching

         17  EPHINE children, those eligible for public health

         18  insurance but not yet enrolled throughout the City.

         19                 We welcome your questions.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         21  much Marjorie, I appreciate it.

         22                 I just have a couple of questions,

         23  and I want to thank you for cutting back your

         24  testimony. We are extremely interested in --

         25                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER
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          2  CADOGAN: The record is complete.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: The record will,

          4  of course, reflect everything here in your

          5  testimony.

          6                 You know, I think that I want to

          7  commend the Administration for the work that you've

          8  done to get more people, a half a million more

          9  people enrolled and 80,000 within the past year is a

         10  phenomenal increase of people, you know, enrolled in

         11  the public health programs.

         12                 Our goal is one in the same, to make

         13  sure that people who qualify for the program can

         14  receive access to the program. I think that, you

         15  know, we are joined here by some of the plans, you

         16  know, within the City of New York that do the job,

         17  and we want to thank them also. It's a daunting task

         18  to make sure that people can take advantage of these

         19  benefits.

         20                 I just have a couple of questions. I

         21  hear the concerns, and I'm looking at the

         22  application right here, and the difficulty of the

         23  application I can appreciate.

         24                 One of my questions is, I don't know

         25  if you're actually capable of answering this, but I
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          2  just want to throw it out there so we can start the

          3  conversation.

          4                 Last year the City of New York

          5  starting sending out to people who qualify for EITC,

          6  the Earned Income Tax Credit, pre-filled out, you

          7  know, tax forms. These same individuals do qualify

          8  also for the health programs, so is there a

          9  potential possibility where we can pre-fill out the

         10  specific information that is pertinent to the

         11  individual, and with a listing of providers within

         12  their local area so that way they can make the

         13  second requirement of having a face-to-face meeting?

         14  And it would ensure that, you know, more people are

         15  getting the attention.

         16                 And the reason why I raise that is

         17  because, you know, in this whole entire debate on

         18  what's taking place in the federal government, we do

         19  know that, you know, there is less people, less

         20  children enrolled and less people enrolled in

         21  programs that we're not meeting our quota. So, this

         22  would help ensure that we do meet the limits, since

         23  if you send it to them with a listing of the

         24  benefits and the providers that are within their

         25  local area, that I think would do a very good job in
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          2  making sure people enroll. In the City of New York

          3  no one has a template with the EITC.

          4                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          5  CADOGAN: Well, we can certainly consider that,

          6  Council member. But you should know that during the

          7  tax season when the City's EITC campaign is ongoing

          8  each year, we have partnered up at the free tax

          9  preparation sites to have facilitated enrollers

         10  there and available, and at many sites there is an

         11  intake process that would help identify individuals

         12  who may be uninsured and eligible for the program,

         13  so that they can, in fact, take advantage of two

         14  birds with one stone, getting the preparation toward

         15  their EITC, and also enrolling in health insurance.

         16                 So, the one thing that we have

         17  learned through the course of our experience is,

         18  it's not so much putting a piece of paper in

         19  someone's hand, but making the opportunity to

         20  enroll, convenient to them as they execute those

         21  obligations and various parts of their day where

         22  they may not have expected to have a health

         23  insurance intercept with that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: So you have a

         25  facilitator at the --
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          2                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          3  CADOGAN: At the tax preparation site.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: That's very good,

          5  but the only problem is that the vast majority of

          6  people who qualify for EITC don't use the free tax

          7  centers, they use the Jackson Hewitts (phonetic) and

          8  H&R Blocks and the other locations, and the problem

          9  is there is no facilitators at those locations.

         10                 So, I mean, that's why I think it

         11  would be beneficial if we can, if it is legally

         12  possible, we don't have any State limitations on

         13  pre-filling out the application with the pertinent

         14  information, mailing it to the people because it

         15  cross-referenced it, if you will guarantee that most

         16  of these people do qualify for the program, you

         17  would actually get more people to enroll in the

         18  program.

         19                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         20  CADOGAN: Well, again, I'm not sure how much

         21  pre-completion we could do and whether there might

         22  be some privacy concerns under HIPA with regard to

         23  that. We can certainly look into that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 Council Member Sears has a question.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

          4  much, Mr. Chair, and Co-Chair Simcha Felder. This is

          5  a very important Committee hearing and I thank all

          6  of you for being here.

          7                 I have just two questions because I

          8  know there probably will be more.

          9                 Has the City ever asked the State to

         10  sit in on, and hopefully there have been, revisions

         11  of the application so that you would be able to have

         12  the input as to what would expedite the process for

         13  those filling in the applications?

         14                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         15  CADOGAN: The City and the State work very closely

         16  together around revisions changes, not only to the

         17  application but to the process of enrolling and

         18  renewal, so there is a very close relationship to

         19  the City and the State around those changes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: How lengthy is

         21  the application process?

         22                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         23  CADOGAN: The application process?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Yes.

         25                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER
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          2  CADOGAN: The application is in your packet.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Oh, here it is.

          4                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          5  CADOGAN: I believe it's more than ten pages.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.

          7                 You know, when I was with the

          8  Department for the Aging, I think we started out

          9  with 15 pages and ultimately got it down to three.

         10                 This is so intimidating, this

         11  application. It's just very lengthy for those who

         12  may not have a good grasp of the language.

         13                 One of the things about having these

         14  in the schools certainly would familiarize -- they

         15  would become familiar with what they would need and

         16  then it should have where they would seek to process

         17  this application. So that it's not negative to have

         18  it in the schools and wherever else they're asking

         19  for it. Because if I had this for the first time and

         20  sat in front of you, then I'm not easily

         21  intimidated, it would be a challenge for me to

         22  accept this in a positive way.

         23                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         24  CADOGAN: I agree with you, Council member --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And that's not
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          2  a criticism.

          3                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          4  CADOGAN: I understand. And I think that's why the

          5  State and the City have worked so hard and how such

          6  an active facilitated enrollment network of sites

          7  where individuals can go to be guided through the

          8  application and be guided, frankly, through the

          9  checklist of documentation that's required to

         10  accompany the application in order for it to be

         11  processed efficiently.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Well, how many

         13  times do they come back? Or is this all done and

         14  completed in one-shot visit?

         15                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         16  CADOGAN: I can't tell you the average of how many

         17  visits there are, but, certainly facilitated

         18  enrollers work to try to be as efficient as possible

         19  in terms of working through the requirements of the

         20  application and then giving the individual some time

         21  to assemble and produce the documentation that may

         22  be relevant.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Is there a

         24  summary as to what are the documents that are

         25  necessary to complete this?
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          2                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          3  CADOGAN: There is the check list, I think, in the

          4  application itself, but based on our experiences, we

          5  actually also have enrollers. What makes it

          6  important is that our enrollers actually can help

          7  people via the telephone to increase screening, make

          8  appointments with them and assist clients to

          9  complete applications either at a location of their

         10  choice, including one of our ten health centers, but

         11  also we make home visits to help them collect the

         12  documentation needed for the application and help

         13  them shepherd that application to HRA for the final

         14  eligibility determination.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So, then isn't

         16  it possible, if this was not to happen in an

         17  application, and I understand what you're saying,

         18  but in order to have that outreach, should there not

         19  be maybe just a brochure of the documents that are

         20  needed and placed in our public libraries? They are

         21  a great source.  For somebody not to have the

         22  process so dwarfed by their first visit, so they

         23  would come prepared, they would understand what it

         24  means to do this, and they would call you or call

         25  their elected official. Each local library is quite
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          2  familiar with their elected officials who are there

          3  and the community boards, and it seems there should

          4  be something that's designed to prepare the

          5  individual to have some degree of comfort in making

          6  this application process. That's number one.

          7                 And secondly, then, since we do have

          8  the school-based clinics, do you have any idea of

          9  how many of these applications have been processed

         10  in the school-based clinics? Because they also are a

         11  great source for depleting this?

         12                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         13  CADOGAN: No, I don't have that kind of statistic,

         14  but we can look into that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And the reason

         16  for that, because every time there has been a

         17  school-based clinic that was to close, one of the

         18  things that came up was the fact of the access to

         19  having insurance by having at least the application

         20  there and walking you through it.

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         22  CADOGAN: Well, Council member, you point to an

         23  important locust with regard to reaching

         24  particularly uninsured children, and that is

         25  schools. And you'll see in the testimony, but I want
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          2  to raise it to your attention that we've done some

          3  work in the past year to refine the school lunch

          4  application, as a tool, a broad tool that goes out

          5  to parents to be completed each year. There is a

          6  health insurance inquiry form as part of that

          7  application, and the form is in your packet. It is

          8  something that parents are required to fill out, as

          9  they fill out the rest of the application for school

         10  lunch, and the information, both demographic and the

         11  answers to questions about health insurance status

         12  for their children and whether they would like

         13  assistance is captured in the school system's

         14  database, and that creates a number of referrals

         15  which are then farmed out to facilitated enrollers

         16  who contact them personally to assist them.

         17                 So, we do take advantage of that

         18  resource in schools. Also in front of you is a tool

         19  to make available to key school staff called

         20  "Hands-On Health," which provides information about

         21  health insurance resources, health insurance

         22  programs, and the locations where individuals can

         23  enroll in public health insurance. So, we do work in

         24  the school setting to make these kind of resources

         25  readily available so that information can get to
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          2  parents.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: We need to do

          4  more because having another side of this, and what

          5  you have certainly pointed out, that for every child

          6  that doesn't, there is a city that has to pay for

          7  it, and we lose a great deal of money, and when we

          8  have to make budget cuts, shifting hats now from the

          9  Health Committee to Finance, those are hard

         10  decisions for us to do, and I just feel that we need

         11  to do more in outreach, and I think that the

         12  resources that are out there are not -- I would

         13  suggest, and I know it may cost a dollar, maybe not,

         14  I'll be happy to do it, if you could summarize and

         15  have a brochure, I would keep it in my office, and I

         16  am sure that you would get more calls. I would see

         17  that it was placed in the libraries to do that.

         18  Because once people explain it to them and what they

         19  need, either they don't have the documents, or they

         20  do, if they don't have them, what do they do?

         21                 If I go see you, and I may not have

         22  half these documents, what will I do? Do I get

         23  turned away? What do I do? Or can they refer to the

         24  HHC?

         25                 I mean, if I come before you and I

                                                            34

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS AND HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  don't have insurance, what do I do when I want to

          3  fill in the application, and I don't have some of

          4  the documents? What happens then?

          5                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          6  CADOGAN: That's one of the reasons why we do help

          7  people directly, make home visits, go to them,

          8  obviously at their invitation, to their homes, and

          9  help them fill out applications.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: With filling

         11  out this application?

         12                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         13  CADOGAN: We help them. We actually assist them to

         14  complete those applications.

         15                 What I think is also important is

         16  they're guided through the entire process by our

         17  facilitated enrollers, but they also go over more

         18  than that. They go over the health plans, the choice

         19  of plans, the choice of providers making sure that

         20  they have providers, understand the provider

         21  network, the concept of managed care, the benefits

         22  they will receive by going to -- by having health

         23  insurance, and they get ongoing support until the

         24  application is completed and they can be enrolled.

         25                 So, there is a whole host of
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          2  information, and important health information, why

          3  it's so important to complete a health insurance

          4  application in the first place to connect themselves

          5  and continue utilizing health care.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So, with that

          7  wonderful assistance, and I know your agency does

          8  great work, what were the numbers approximately that

          9  you enrolled with this very tender loving care,

         10  which it is, because it's really walking them

         11  through the process? It's a very lengthy process.

         12                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         13  CADOGAN: There is some of that information in the

         14  testimony. If I could turn your attention to page

         15  11. DOHMH has assisted 90,000 individuals Citywide,

         16  since their program started in 2000, 7,000 in this

         17  calendar year alone.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: That's a lot.

         19  That's very good. So, I thank you.

         20                 But I really just feel that we need

         21  to do a little bit more, and I think that some of

         22  the resources that are out there to help this,

         23  really should be taken advantage of.

         24                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         25  CADOGAN: Council member, you point to an interesting
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          2  point that there is more that we can do, and I would

          3  agree that there is more that we can do. We're not

          4  sure that sharing the application is that step, but

          5  there are tools that we do have in hand, there is

          6  data that we do have in hand that perhaps can be

          7  shared across agencies that will help us better

          8  identify those children and adults who are eligible,

          9  and it may be a matter of using some of our existing

         10  data systems and having them talk more to teach

         11  other to allow us to do things that would help

         12  facilitate folks, for example, who already have food

         13  stamps to get public health insurance.

         14                 So, there are things that we can do

         15  that may be in fact more beneficial for New Yorkers

         16  than handing them an application alone.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         18                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         20  much, Council member.

         21                 Next we have our home Councilwoman,

         22  Councilwoman Arroyo.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: I have to get

         24  past all the water, I feel like I'm going to drown

         25  up here. She's really thirsty.
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          2                 Thank you for coming to the Bronx, to

          3  my home district.

          4                 Immigration status, I didn't hear any

          5  mention about the status of requirement or not or

          6  does it prevent individuals from enrolling.

          7                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          8  CADOGAN: Well, immigration status is an item to be

          9  proven with regard to the adult programs, both

         10  Medicaid and Family Health Plus. The fortunate thing

         11  in New York State and for New York City children is

         12  that immigration status is not an issue for

         13  enrollment into Child Health Plus.

         14                 So, that is a message that we work to

         15  cast very broadly to make immigrants and new

         16  Americans aware that children, regardless of

         17  immigration status, are eligible for the public

         18  programs.

         19                 But you point to another concern for

         20  families that when they see this application, which

         21  is a government application, they may have some

         22  reticence about completing it because the fact of

         23  their status and perhaps inaccurate or incomplete

         24  knowledge about their ability to apply. Again, those

         25  kind of fears can be addressed when they sit
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          2  face-to-face with a facilitated enroller who can

          3  guide them through the process.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO: So,

          5  the parent is the one filling out the application.

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          7  CADOGAN: Correct.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO: And

          9  they may want to apply for the child because they

         10  qualify regardless of immigration status.

         11                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         12  CADOGAN: And the parents immigration status is not

         13  about --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO:

         15  What are the number of children who are enrolled

         16  that fall into that category?

         17                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         18  CADOGAN: That fall into?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO: The

         20  non-immigrant status.

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         22  CADOGAN: I don't have that information at hand but I

         23  know that there are over 150,000 children enrolled

         24  in the Child Health B Program. I don't want to

         25  speculate on what percentage of that are immigrant
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          2  children, but we can see if we can get that

          3  information.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO:

          5  Understanding I think that number would help design

          6  maybe a public information campaign for the parents

          7  of those children who qualify regardless of their

          8  immigration status and encourage them to complete

          9  the application. Is there any discussion internally

         10  about doing such a campaign?

         11                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         12  CADOGAN: Actually in the context of conversations

         13  that the City and State are starting to have in the

         14  context of the Governor's commitment to enroll all

         15  eligible children and to extend universal coverage

         16  for children, we have been talking about the need

         17  for focus on messages for immigrant populations and

         18  how we do this.

         19                 So, yes, in fact, that has been some

         20  of the core of our conversation.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO: Any

         22  idea when that's going to happen?

         23                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         24  CADOGAN: I would suspect probably some time early in

         25  2008.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO:

          3  This application is in English?

          4                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          5  CADOGAN: The application has been translated into

          6  Spanish. It was a Spanish application.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO: Any

          8  plans to translate in any other language?

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         10  CADOGAN: That is a decision that New York State

         11  makes, and that they control.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO: And

         13  you referenced the facilitated enrollment centers

         14  that are in community-based organizations, and the

         15  managed care plans assist families in the enrollment

         16  process. So, where are these facilitated enrollment

         17  centers, or non-profit providers that are doing this

         18  work, and the languages that they speak?

         19                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         20  CADOGAN: We can get you that information but there

         21  is a listing in the Hands-On Health booklet that

         22  indicates where they are. As I had mentioned, not

         23  only do the community-based organizations provide

         24  that assistance but it is available at community

         25  Medicaid offices throughout the City in all of the
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          2  five boroughs, in 19 of the offices. The Health and

          3  Hospitals Corporations, all of the Health and

          4  Hospitals Corporations have offices that can assist

          5  individuals and apply in the Department of Health.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WEINSTEIN: We

          7  have ten sites at ten of our community health

          8  centers, also has facilitated enrollers located. In

          9  that booklet are also the community-based

         10  organizations as well listed, as well as the health

         11  plans who offer facilitated enrollment sites. You go

         12  to pages 17 through I believe about 21, you'll see a

         13  comprehensive list of facilitated enrollment

         14  locations.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO:

         16  They're pretty widespread throughout the City.

         17                 And again, you said the managed care

         18  plans to enrollment as well? Probably more so than

         19  facilitated at centers?

         20                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         21  CADOGAN: Yes, they do quite a number of enrollments.

         22  And in fact, many of them have mobile units that

         23  many of you, I suspect, have seen throughout the

         24  City, which is yet another tool to get into the

         25  community --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO:

          3  Okay, thank you.

          4                 I didn't get from your testimony

          5  whether you support Intro. 293-A or not.

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          7  CADOGAN: We have concerns that the focus on

          8  providing the application, without the recognition

          9  that the application is not enough to take the next

         10  step, will not achieve the goals that the Council is

         11  seeking to achieve.

         12                 The fact that individuals have to

         13  have a face-to-face interview, they cannot complete

         14  the application on their own in order to meet the

         15  program's requirements, and in fact, there appears

         16  to be a bit of confusion over what may be the most

         17  widely used application that would serve not only

         18  children and families, which is ACCESS NYC

         19  application, as opposed to the Growing Up Healthy

         20  application, which seems to be the one that's

         21  referenced in 293.

         22                 So, we believe that there are other

         23  things that we can do, but it's not necessarily

         24  resting on distribution of the application to do

         25  that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO: But

          3  the distribution of the applications could help?

          4                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          5  CADOGAN: They could put another piece of paper in

          6  people's hands. I don't know really if they would

          7  help us toward increasing the level of enrollment,

          8  which I think is what the Council is looking to do.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WEINSTEIN: Our

         10  experience has really taught us that it is really

         11  one on one support that, provided by knowledgeable

         12  and trained enrollers that really are the key to

         13  getting people enrolled and staying enrolled. So,

         14  having an application we have found based on our own

         15  experience is really not a guarantee to a successful

         16  enrollment.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO:

         18  Thank you.

         19                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Next we have

         21  Councilwoman Inez Dickens, our Majority Whip.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you so

         23  much, Mr. Chair.

         24                 Thank you, Commissioner, and Ms.

         25  Weinstein, for your testimony, and for coming into
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          2  the district.

          3                 Now, I read in your testimony that

          4  there is a lot of outreach that you've been doing,

          5  including going to homes at various times, and with

          6  all of that outreach, it is estimated that there is

          7  still approximately 1.2 million residents of New

          8  York City that are still not ensured. And I was

          9  looking at this application, and although I realize

         10  that immigration status for the children is not an

         11  issue; is that correct?

         12                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         13  CADOGAN: It is correct.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: However, if I

         15  were a parent, an immigrant parent, without legality

         16  and/or having applied for citizenship, in Section K

         17  of that application, it asks for the name of the

         18  applying person, which would be the parent, and

         19  their Social Security Number. And if I was in that

         20  category, I would dump this in file 13 ASAP, because

         21  regardless of what it says in Section D about

         22  citizenship, it still would be incumbent upon me,

         23  and I would be fearful about completing this

         24  application, because it implies that you need to

         25  have citizenship status.
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          2                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          3  CADOGAN: Yes. And I think, Council Member, if I can

          4  interject, I don't know if you're going to

          5  questions, I think you point to one of the concerns

          6  about putting the application as it stands in

          7  someone's hands, without them having the ability to

          8  sit down with someone who can assure them that

          9  completing that section or perhaps providing

         10  different kinds of information in order to enroll

         11  their child will not jeopardize their status and

         12  their ability to sponsor other individuals and their

         13  families, as well as to get the appropriate

         14  insurance and care for their child. So that the

         15  paper itself, without that kind of one-on-one

         16  counseling, and outside of the context of some of

         17  the outreach that we try to do also with faith

         18  organizations where there is a trusted relationship

         19  between immigrant populations and the local

         20  community.

         21                 Council Member, that is what we spend

         22  all of our days and weeks doing in the HealthStat

         23  effort. We actually work with City agencies, the

         24  Department of Health being a premiere one, but

         25  entities like the Fire Department, like the Police
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          2  Department that works with Precinct Councils and

          3  events and faith organizations and trying to marry

          4  outreach enrollment experience to activities that

          5  take place across communities in different agency

          6  offices all across the City.

          7                 So, thank you for that, but that is a

          8  bit of what we spend our thoughts on.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Commissioner,

         10  if you do that, do you do outreach to the Council

         11  Member's office to let them know that this is being

         12  done in their districts?

         13                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         14  CADOGAN: We have, I believe that Commissioner Doar

         15  and our Director of Communications has provided

         16  information to all 51 Council members, with regard

         17  to the work of our office and the materials that we

         18  have available, and, in fact, we will be more than

         19  happy to supply even more materials to Council

         20  members or to any locations that you feel we would

         21  be missing, in terms of reaching out.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: I would

         23  really be very specific. You mentioned that you do

         24  spend your days going into the community doing

         25  certain events. I'm asking very specifically, do you
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          2  do outreach to the Council members when you work in

          3  their specific district, so that they can have input

          4  so that they can distribute the information so that

          5  they can ensure the community is actually in

          6  attendance and can apply? Because the people rely

          7  upon the Council Members.

          8                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          9  CADOGAN: We have done that. In fact, Council member,

         10  you may recall at the last instance when I testified

         11  in front of the Health Committee, you brought to my

         12  attention a number of organizations, business

         13  organizations as well as others, which we made

         14  contact with, and in fact they co-sponsored events

         15  under your name, which we found very helpful in

         16  terms of reaching some of the uninsured in the

         17  business community.

         18                 So, we do do that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: I appreciate

         20  you doing it in my community. I'm really asking for

         21  Citywide, is that done with all Council districts to

         22  ensure -- and in our case we did it particularly

         23  with sole proprietorships, and now I'm really

         24  talking about the communities at large.

         25                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER
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          2  CADOGAN: We have done it, and we will do more.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: All right.

          4                 I appreciate that. Thank you so much

          5  for your testimony.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Councilwoman

          7  Helen Sears.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: In the City

          9  Council a few years ago, we voted on what the

         10  languages were where we had to have translations

         11  through HHC. And I think they may have been about

         12  five or six that have passed that law.

         13                 My question is, when you have your

         14  talks with the State, is that recognized so that

         15  they know that we do need those other languages?

         16  Because the HHC has all their information translated

         17  in those languages that were designated from this

         18  Committee to have those translations, so is the

         19  State aware of that?

         20                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         21  CADOGAN: I believe the State may be aware of the

         22  City's obligations under the Charter as well as

         23  local law with regard to translation.

         24                 You should know that the Local Law 1

         25  brochure, which is kind of the foundation of this
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          2  conversation, is translated into about nine

          3  languages.

          4                 And, also, at the facilitated

          5  enrollment locations, there is the ability to sit

          6  down with either enroller or a translation service

          7  to go through the particular language needs of the

          8  individual application or interested applicant.

          9                 So, again, another reason for that

         10  one-on-one encounter.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: That means that

         12  that interpreter would have to speak several

         13  languages. I don't imagine, and maybe I shouldn't

         14  assume it, that you have six people that will speak

         15  the different languages?

         16                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         17  CADOGAN: Well, certainly the community-based

         18  organizations make it a point to have language

         19  capacity in the communities, and relative to the

         20  communities they serve, and in terms of the

         21  community Medicaid offices, they also have some

         22  language capacity, but they have access to a

         23  language line that can do simultaneous translation.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WEINSTEIN: In

         25  our enrollers in health centers and others also, we
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          2  have multilingual staff who also perform that

          3  function. Obviously the health plans are another

          4  primary source, and also have multilingual staff to

          5  assist potential enrollees.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I thank you,

          7  because I think we'll have to look at the

          8  applications not being in the rest of the languages

          9  that we felt were necessary in the City of New York.

         10  Because you may have the translators there, but they

         11  do have to have some degree of comfort that what

         12  they're saying is what's being put down.

         13                 Not that they don't trust people that

         14  are doing it, but there is always a distrust for

         15  what government is doing, and that has been one of

         16  the obstacles in getting the students, children and

         17  their parents enrolled in those programs. So that is

         18  something that we have constantly tried to think of

         19  another way in which to overcome that doubt and that

         20  fear?

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         22  CADOGAN: And I think the investment in facilitated

         23  enrollment has been a piece of that recognition in

         24  making sure that community-based organizations, the

         25  managed care plans and the agencies to the extent

                                                            51

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS AND HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  that they can recognize those language needs.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

          4                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 I just have a couple of follow-up

          8  questions. One of them is on Section D, again going

          9  back towards the citizenship, it says "Pregnant

         10  women do not have to complete this section." Bla Bla

         11  Bla, "...this information is needed only for those

         12  people who are applying for health insurance." Then

         13  it goes on to say "almost all children are eligible

         14  for health insurance, regardless of their

         15  immigration status." I know that we cannot change

         16  the language of the application, but of course we

         17  work with the State, how do you finetune that to

         18  qualify who is eligible? Because, I mean, it says

         19  almost all children are eligible, so who wouldn't be

         20  eligible under that? Is it children above 250

         21  percent of the poverty guideline -- poverty lines?

         22  To make it easier to understand. This Section D,

         23  second sentence, "Almost all children are eligible

         24  for health insurance regardless of immigration

         25  status." Is there a way to clarify that language of
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          2  who qualifies? And that would be obviously working

          3  with the State, you know, they're the ones that

          4  change the language.

          5                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          6  CADOGAN: Well, we can certainly raise those

          7  questions in our conversations with the State. I

          8  think that point is, the notice there is to make

          9  parents aware that children, regardless of

         10  immigration status can apply for Child Health Plus

         11  B, certainly for Children's Medicaid immigration

         12  status applies so children who are undocumented

         13  would not qualify for Medicaid while they would

         14  qualify for Child Health Plus B.

         15                 And then certainly going above a

         16  certain income level, as you mentioned, those

         17  children would not be eligible as yet beyond 250

         18  percent of the federal poverty level.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: I just wanted to

         20  go back. Is the application available on line?

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         22  CADOGAN: The application is available through ACCESS

         23  NYC, which is a screening tool that is available on

         24  the web for New Yorkers where they can screen

         25  themselves in the privacy of their home, in the
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          2  comfort of their library, at their offices. Wherever

          3  they have web access, in order to see whether they

          4  or their children qualify and also with demographic

          5  information that they put in in the screening

          6  experience, then populates a public health insurance

          7  application, if they are, in fact, eligible, which

          8  they then must take to a facilitated enroller office

          9  or a community Medicaid office to complete the

         10  process.

         11                 So, there is that ability.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: So then

         13  theoretically you have a process whereabout it's not

         14  the facilitator or the managed care provider

         15  actually putting out the application, but you have

         16  the individual theoretically filling out themselves

         17  and then going to a managed care provider or to a

         18  facilitator?

         19                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         20  CADOGAN: Well, the individual is always filling out

         21  the application, whether they start from the

         22  beginning or sit with an enroller or they start from

         23  the beginning and type in information in ACCESS NYC.

         24  The facilitated enroller really works with them to

         25  make sure they complete the application with all of
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          2  the documentation that has to accompany them, and

          3  that facilitated enroller can then submit the

          4  application for them for determination by HRA.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, I'm just

          6  trying to think about what's the end result. I like

          7  to work backwards then get everybody signed up for

          8  it.

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         10  CADOGAN: Indeed. And I didn't mean to confuse you.

         11  All steps lead to a face-to-face experience, either

         12  with a facilitated enroller or a community Medicaid

         13  office.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: I'm trying to

         15  think while I'm up here, if I look up the

         16  application and there is no HIPA disclosure on the

         17  application, so that would signify it would not be a

         18  problem under HIPA laws. I looked in the back under

         19  the fine print where you normally find any

         20  disclosure forms. Regardless of that, I looked at

         21  the actual application, and it's pretty standard,

         22  you know, it's first name, middle name, last name,

         23  home contact, you know, head of household status,

         24  and you know, a lot of this stuff is not about your

         25  medical condition, more so it's about who you are,
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          2  where you are and things of that nature. So, that

          3  would not fall under the HIPA guidelines.

          4                 Obviously, I'm not a lawyer --

          5                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          6  CADOGAN: I think we want to take it under

          7  advisement, Council member. But let's follow your

          8  train of thought for now.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay. So, what

         10  I'm just saying is that if we focus like the EITC,

         11  and we can then collaborate with the facilitators,

         12  community-based organizations and the managed care

         13  to provide a day.

         14                 Like, for instance, in the Melrose

         15  section of the Bronx, there's 50,000 people just

         16  within that area that are eligible, then you can

         17  collaborate with the health plans and with the

         18  facilitators to do a day and send out the

         19  information to the potential advocates to come down

         20  to Hostos on such and such a day to have a health

         21  fair where you are going to have everybody there.

         22  That's a possibility.

         23                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         24  CADOGAN: We are certainly open to other ideas about

         25  how we can draw folks who are uninsured and

                                                            56

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS AND HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  potentially eligible into the enrollment process and

          3  doing it at locations that are convenient to them is

          4  something that we are comfortable with. So, if

          5  that's one way that we can work with Council members

          6  to execute that, we would be happy to do that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: And then in a

          8  more controversial way, you always think about the

          9  controversial ways, if we send it to them, and by

         10  sending it to them you can say you will also be

         11  contacted within two weeks to a month by a

         12  facilitator. Now, that gets into call registry and

         13  --

         14                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         15  CADOGAN: Exactly. I think you're trangressing some

         16  real privacy issues there, Council member.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: That was just

         18  another off the cuff --

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WEINSTEIN: The

         20  first comment you made, Council member, is

         21  absolutely what we do. I mean, we can go to sites.

         22  We send our enrollers out to locations. We have

         23  satellite offices and work with community-based

         24  organizations the same way, who can give us

         25  referrals of people who are interested in getting
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          2  our help.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Next we have

          4  Council Member Stewart.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

          6  Thank you, Mr. Chair. I just have a few simple

          7  questions.

          8                 In terms of your outreach, do you

          9  have extra brochures that you give out that some of

         10  us can have for our district offices?

         11                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         12  CADOGAN: We can certainly make any quantity

         13  available to you for your district offices.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

         15                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         16  CADOGAN: If you let me know right now how many you

         17  need, Council member, I will make sure you get them.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

         19                 On another note, would you have like

         20  a screening form, because the application seems to

         21  be lengthy, and I was hoping that you have like a

         22  screening form that you use, because you would want

         23  to weed out those folks, some of those folks who may

         24  have income, they will come to try to apply, they

         25  may not be eligible, so you want to have something
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          2  just to screen out so you don't waste a lot of time.

          3  So, would you have something like that?

          4                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          5  CADOGAN: What we do have is on the website for the

          6  Office of Citywide Health Insurance Access, which

          7  the website address is part of the Local Law 1

          8  brochure, it's part of the Hands-On Health document.

          9  It appears on this lunch form, but it is a tool for

         10  you and your staff. There are the eligibility

         11  corridors listed for all of the adult programs and

         12  all of the children programs so you can see what

         13  income, both monthly and annually, would apply.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

         15                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         16  CADOGAN: And -- I'm sorry, Council member, the

         17  ACCESS NYC tool is a tool that you are able to use

         18  in your offices when constituents may come to you

         19  and you can walk with them through their income

         20  information and determine whether they might be

         21  eligible for these programs.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right. I

         23  also would like to have what we call an outreach,

         24  some sort of outreach activity with you in my

         25  district, just like how we do it for any of the
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          2  other fields, that we can merely do like something

          3  in the district to get a lot of folks in at the same

          4  time to make that change.

          5                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          6  CADOGAN: I am more than happy to work with you,

          7  Council member.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Now, I have

          9  another question to deal with the insurance itself;

         10  and that is, this insurance is basically HMO, but

         11  most of the specialists don't participate or not

         12  allowed to participate in this HMO, and we find that

         13  there is an issue there with folks who may have the

         14  insurance and can't get the service they need

         15  because of the fact that all these insurance are

         16  just HMO, and generally for maybe a family

         17  practitioner or someone at entry level. But if they

         18  have something much more, if they have to do like,

         19  let's say knee work, or if they have to do foot

         20  work, very seldom -- they can't get a specialist to

         21  deal with the issue that they have at-hand; how do

         22  you resolve that kind of situation? Because it's an

         23  HMO and most of the specialists are not part of that

         24  HMO.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WEINSTEIN: The
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          2  Health Department also, in conjunction with the

          3  State Department of Health we do contract with

          4  Medicaid Managed Care companies so we have an

          5  ability to examine their provider networks, and

          6  based on the data that we do see, many specialists

          7  who previously were only serving the fee-for-service

          8  Medicaid population, in fact, have joined Managed

          9  Care at this point, which also includes the other

         10  programs, such as Child Health Plus and Family

         11  Health Plus, but short of that, there are obviously

         12  problems as they occur, and if there are access

         13  problems or complaints, then our office is one that

         14  will be happy to take those complaints and help

         15  resolve them with the plans and with others, and

         16  we've worked closely with plans and consumers, as

         17  well as with the Community Service Society, by the

         18  way, which is a City Council funded initiative that

         19  helps to navigate, helps consumers navigate managed

         20  care issues, and we work closely with them as well

         21  to resolve issues.

         22                 So, there are a number of funds, but

         23  if there are concerns, then our office, in

         24  particular, is one where constituents can call to

         25  get assistance.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I agree with

          3  that. The other issues that, there are very few that

          4  have been accepted in the HMO, so expressed that the

          5  folks can get to them, and they are told to go to

          6  the hospital, but going to the hospital for a small

          7  problem, it takes them an entire day. So, you know,

          8  that is something I think you need to look into

          9  because if you had a lot more specialists, then they

         10  can do the direct referrals. If there is a simple

         11  case that one has to do, you can't do it because the

         12  specialist is not part of that and they have to go

         13  into a hospital, which can deter the patient from

         14  going to the hospital because it's that long. All

         15  right?

         16                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you,

         18  Council member.

         19                 I just have one follow-up question.

         20  What if, you know, since it's available on line, the

         21  applications, why can't we have our Council staff

         22  debutized, you know, to help fill out these

         23  applications?

         24                 You know, the City Council does

         25  various training programs for our staffs, whether
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          2  it's housing issues or educational issues and things

          3  of that nature, we can have, you know, the

          4  Department of Health come into the City Council and

          5  train our Constituents Services Division within our

          6  respective Council offices on how to fill out these

          7  applications so that there would not be a mistake.

          8  And again, bringing it back to, I'm really hooked on

          9  this whole entire filling out for them, mail it to

         10  them, and then have them go to your local elected

         11  official's office and then, you know, have that

         12  face-to-face with a provider or whatever. Can we do

         13  that? Can we have the Council offices debutized to

         14  help fill out these forms?

         15                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         16  CADOGAN: Well, the facilitator enrollment program I

         17  was describing earlier is another program that's

         18  controlled by the State.

         19                 So, I cannot commit for the State in

         20  terms of their training City Council staff with

         21  regard to helping individuals with applications.

         22                 However, we would be more than happy

         23  to sit with your Council staff and walk them through

         24  the ACCESS NYC tool, so that they would be equipped

         25  to work with constituents as they cross your paths
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          2  and be able to sit down with them and screen them or

          3  help them go through the tool and screen themselves

          4  in a way that they could when they qualify start an

          5  application process that will end up in enrollment.

          6                 We would be more than happy to sit

          7  down with Council staff to do that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, good.

          9                 In the actual disclosure portion, it

         10  mentions State and local City agencies are capable

         11  of, you know, helping to fill out these

         12  applications. So, we would be considered to fall

         13  under that jurisdiction, I believe.

         14                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         15  CADOGAN: I'm not sure if that's meant to be as broad

         16  as it's read. It may be constrained --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: You're like a

         18  lawyer --

         19                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         20  CADOGAN: Well, yes, well, I'm a lawyer, too. But,

         21  again, I don't want to speak for the State because

         22  the facilitated enrollment program is governed and

         23  administered by the State.

         24                 But to the extent that we already

         25  have a City tool that is ready, willing and able to
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          2  screen people, I think we can maximize your staff's

          3  ability to use that to the benefit of New Yorkers.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Perfect. Yes, we

          5  should.

          6                 Thank you very much.

          7                 Co-Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 First of all, the issue that the

         11  Co-chair mentioned about having the material filled

         12  out, was that question answered? I didn't catch, did

         13  you answer that question?

         14                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         15  CADOGAN: I hope I did, but if I didn't, let me try

         16  again.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Go ahead.

         18                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         19  CADOGAN: Having a pre-filled out application --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Yes.

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         22  CADOGAN: -- I'm not sure does more than having an

         23  empty application, in terms of connecting the

         24  individual with the kind of assistance they will

         25  ultimately need, to move that application to an
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          2  enrollment.

          3                 So, that I don't know that absent

          4  having either the assistance of a staff member who

          5  would take them through the ACCESS NYC experience,

          6  or facilitated enroller who will sit down with them

          7  with that application, particularly as we've gone

          8  through the scenarios with immigrant families, and

          9  allay some of their concerns, I'm not sure that

         10  having something that has your name and address on

         11  it will encourage you then to take the next step.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Well, I think

         13  we're not talking about a name and address. I think

         14  we're talking about more details that are available

         15  than that, similar to the information on the tax

         16  credit. And I think there is a very simple way of

         17  finding out whether it works or not. You do a pilot

         18  project, you send it out, you know, like any other

         19  scientific test, sending out those with the

         20  information, those without, whether it helps. And

         21  it's not a big deal.

         22                 So, would you be willing to do that?

         23                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         24  CADOGAN: I think, Council member, there are ways

         25  that we can perhaps go a bit further toward the
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          2  result that you are talking about.

          3                 Let me give you perhaps an example.

          4  We have some sense of the work we have done that a

          5  vast majority of the City's uninsured children are

          6  in schools. We know who attend schools, we have

          7  school registers. We also know who is publicly

          8  insured, because they are on our public health

          9  insurance eligibility files. What we don't know is

         10  exactly who is uninsured or who is privately

         11  insured, and if you take a look at the school lunch

         12  application health insurance form, it is an effort

         13  to get parents to help us with that process, but

         14  perhaps another step that we could take, and it

         15  could be done with schools, it could be done with

         16  other perhaps social service entities, is to share

         17  information across those entities, so that we can

         18  truly identify those individuals who are uninsured

         19  and spend our time and energy really providing them

         20  directly with the assistance that they need in a way

         21  that perhaps would be more effective and efficient

         22  than a broader based outreach to folks who either

         23  may not be interested, may not be eligible, or may

         24  not be ready to participate.

         25                 So, that I think may be a more
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          2  effective and efficient use of all the resources

          3  that we have at our hands.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Go ahead.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WEINSTEIN: And

          6  these are also people who have already

          7  self-identified and gave information about their

          8  income which is also very sensitive. So, that in

          9  itself is a concern that we might have in terms of

         10  general confidentiality. But the EITC, you're

         11  getting cash back. A lot of people want cash in

         12  their pockets.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I think the Chair

         14  was addressing the fact that the information is

         15  personal and that we have that anyway for them to

         16  get the credits.

         17                 How much staff do you have -- do you

         18  know the increase in enrollment, where exactly that

         19  took place, what community boards? Do you have any

         20  statistics on hand that shows you where the

         21  enrollment, the increases took place.

         22                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         23  CADOGAN: I don't have that on-hand, but we can get

         24  that to you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I respectfully
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          2  would like that. I think the other members would

          3  like that information as well.

          4                 Do you have it by community board? By

          5  district? How do you have it?

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          7  CADOGAN: I would have to look into that. I would

          8  suspect that we would have it by community district,

          9  at the very least, by borough, but we'll get back to

         10  you on it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I would also

         12  suspect that the increase in enrollment throughout

         13  the City is not even what it seems to be true; is

         14  that so or not?

         15                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         16  CADOGAN: I would want to look into it. I don't want

         17  to speculate.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Okay.

         19                 Would you also be able to know why in

         20  those places it increased or not? Why certain places

         21  increased? Why certain places it didn't?

         22                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         23  CADOGAN: We can look into the information that we

         24  may have at hand. I don't know that we necessarily

         25  have studied it thoroughly to give you all
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          2  definitive answers but we can certainly look at the

          3  information.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I would certainly

          5  like definitive answers because I think it will help

          6  us figure out how we can increase enrollment in

          7  those areas that we didn't.  Finding out why it

          8  worked in certain places and why not.

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         10  CADOGAN: The one thing I also want to point your

         11  attention to is that we have spent some time in our

         12  office looking at where the concentrations of those

         13  who are eligible for public health insurance are but

         14  are not enrolled.

         15                 And we did so a number of years ago

         16  and we most recently completed a review for 2007,

         17  and we found that there has been an interesting

         18  change from prior data in that the Bronx seems to be

         19  very high up in having a number of community

         20  districts where there are high concentrations of

         21  those eligible for public health insurance and not

         22  enrolled.

         23                 We are not sure why that is, but it

         24  may be because there is so much more affordable

         25  housing coming to the Bronx that folks are, the kind
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          2  of neighborhood patterns are shifting, particularly

          3  in terms of those who may be in need of these

          4  programs. But it is interesting to us to see that

          5  the Bronx, as opposed to Brooklyn, which is the most

          6  populous district, most populous borough, is leading

          7  in EPHINE populations both for children and adults.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WEINSTEIN: The

          9  geographic targeting is what you're suggesting is

         10  something also that I know the State in working with

         11  the City is contemplating for the near future and

         12  public awareness campaigns, precisely that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: So, I've made a

         14  number of requests, which I would appreciate.

         15                 Do you, or the State, I don't know

         16  who is responsible, do you believe you have enough

         17  staff?

         18                 Your suggestion was an excellent one,

         19  the only suggestion that was better was Council

         20  Member Rivera's, but your suggestion was an

         21  excellent one about getting into the schools and

         22  trying to target those that you know. Do you have

         23  enough staff to do that?

         24                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         25  CADOGAN: Well, certainly all of the work that we do
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          2  in my office, the Office of Citywide Health

          3  Insurance Access, depends on the partnerships. So,

          4  it depends on the willingness and ability of other

          5  City agencies like the Department of Education to

          6  work with us to get that work done. I certainly can

          7  say that I never have enough staff in my office to

          8  do the work that we do, but because we rely on the

          9  staff of other agencies, we leverage other

         10  resources, we use more always.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Yes. So, that was

         12  the right answer to the question. Because there is

         13  no question in my mind that you're doing a wonderful

         14  job. But I think that we're being a little foolish

         15  by having these discussions and not really at least

         16  stating clearly that providing the proper health

         17  insurance to people throughout the City, is not only

         18  a good healthy thing, you know, a healthy thing, it

         19  financially saves the government millions, billions

         20  of dollars. You know, forget about the importance of

         21  people being able to get healthcare, but the

         22  question of saving money. This is a perfect example

         23  of penny-wise and pound foolish. The City will give

         24  -- with the Health Department, with all the City

         25  agencies, that if there was enough to go around,
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          2  that's great, but they will allocate enough money in

          3  certain agencies, whether it's the Education itself,

          4  and something that's not important, but if you had

          5  enough staff to implement what you've suggested, we

          6  wouldn't be talking about all these other stories.

          7                 If you were able to implement the

          8  policy in schools working with the Education

          9  Department and have the staff, and you have the

         10  staff to be able to go into every school in the

         11  City, you know, make it a realistic goal, by the end

         12  of the year, and every single family that was

         13  mentioned that was not signed up for a private

         14  health insurance, to be able to give them a night,

         15  whether it's a PTA night, another night, another

         16  day, you know, where the teachers are off for

         17  school, the variety of things they're off, to be

         18  able to go in and register these people, have dozens

         19  of computers in schools, you know, a SWAT team, to

         20  be able to go in and help people get what they need,

         21  then we wouldn't be talking about it. I think that

         22  we don't have the staff we need. I don't think you

         23  have the staff you need to implement this. I don't

         24  think you have the staff. You know, I'll say it

         25  another two, three times: I don't think you have the
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          2  staff to implement it, and I think that when we talk

          3  about the Council's suggestion about sending out

          4  applications, I don't know, you know, they register

          5  voters, they send out papers and papers and maybe

          6  one percent. You know what? If we register as a

          7  result of this another 100 people, another ten

          8  people, it's worth every penny.

          9                 And earlier you mentioned about the

         10  State not having enough paper. You didn't say that.

         11                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         12  CADOGAN: I didn't say that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Yes, but that's

         14  what you inferred.

         15                 Let me tell you, this thing has more

         16  paper than you can imagine and you know that, and if

         17  we need to get more applications from them, maybe we

         18  won't get money from them or help from them, but

         19  paper, they'll give us plenty of paper.

         20                 I just feel very bad, I think that

         21  you're trying to do a good job, and I don't think

         22  you have enough people to get it done.

         23                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         24  CADOGAN: Well, Council Member, I will take it from

         25  your lips to anybody's ears in terms of additional
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          2  staff across my agency or across the City to enroll

          3  those who are eligible for public health insurance

          4  but not enrolled.

          5                 I think the point that I hope you

          6  also heard with regard to working in schools or any

          7  other organization is the need for the kind of data

          8  systems. And, yes, that takes staff. I won't dismiss

          9  that, but it takes a commitment to developing the

         10  kind of systems that we need, systems like ACCESS

         11  NYC that staff can use and other tools that will

         12  give us a base of information that starts us out on

         13  the right road of getting to those who are eligible.

         14                 But I would agree with you, we can

         15  always use more hands. We have a wide array of

         16  resources that we maximize. It's not just the plans

         17  and the community-based organizations. We reach out

         18  to faith-based organizations and other community

         19  organizations, programs, we go far and wide.

         20                 But, yes, we can always use

         21  additional assistance.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Well, I'm not

         23  going to shower you with additional compliments, but

         24  of course --

         25                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

                                                            75

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS AND HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  CADOGAN; I'm not fishing for them either,

          3  Councilman.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Well, then I will

          5  shower you with them, but we thank you for

          6  everything you've done. Just two additional things,

          7  about calling, you know, there was a suggestion made

          8  about following up of a call. Right now there are

          9  two exemptions on the no call list, one is for

         10  charities and the other is for public officials.

         11  Obviously when the bill was passed we wanted to

         12  protect, the State elected officials wanted to

         13  protect ourselves during elections. But I would

         14  think that if charities are allowed to call people

         15  at night, that it may be that government does allow

         16  to call at night to follow-up on helping somebody

         17  with their health plans. I don't know if that's true

         18  or not.

         19                 And the other thing is in terms of

         20  the public schools themselves. This is a great idea,

         21  one, you suggest it, and I think of my -- I should

         22  say our. Whenever things are good I say my, when I

         23  have problems I say our. Our daughters are in a

         24  parochial school. They do not let them into the

         25  school if they are not signing the forms of the Food
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          2  Stamps and every other form. They don't let them in.

          3  They tell the kids the first day, you don't have it,

          4  you're not coming back tomorrow. And I don't know if

          5  it's possible, but, again, if there was at least

          6  some way where somebody would be able to force the

          7  children throughout the City to bring some note

          8  home, where it says I am aware, I have health

          9  insurance, I don't have health insurance, and you

         10  know this information, and I would like additional

         11  assistance, you know, to please call.

         12                 I don't think much is going to get

         13  done with health insurance unless we push. You know,

         14  people are, including myself, need a big push to do

         15  things, even those things that are important.

         16                 I thank you again for all your

         17  efforts, and appreciate the opportunity to work with

         18  you in the future.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: I apologize. You

         20  just gave me another idea. I have one great idea a

         21  week and I'm already over my quota for like three

         22  weeks here. The one you complimented on, that covers

         23  me for this week.

         24                 You know, we try to have a little bit

         25  of fun. We try to have a sense of humor in the
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          2  Council. The State mandates, you know, certain

          3  vaccines before you go to school, right?

          4                 So, what if the State can mandate

          5  proof of your insurance, carrying your insurance

          6  with you, and when the child enters school?

          7                 I mean, obviously we can't do that,

          8  but can we have a conversation? Because then we just

          9  across the board guarantee we get all the kids

         10  covered.

         11                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         12  CADOGAN: Well, Council member, you raise an

         13  interesting thought, because actually we have heard

         14  others at the State level speak to the inclination,

         15  or interest at least, with regard to that.

         16                 I think we want to be careful with a

         17  mandate not creating some of the same kind of hard

         18  enforcement liabilities that we have, for example,

         19  with the immunization mandate, which is where

         20  principals are held personally liable for those who

         21  don't have immunizations.

         22                 I don't know that we want to create

         23  that same kind of scenario for health insurance, but

         24  there may well be a way that we can create the same

         25  kind of urgency around having health insurance at
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          2  the beginning of the year that one has around making

          3  sure that the immunizations happen and it could be

          4  just a matter of kind of looking at that

          5  immunization process and what the forms are and

          6  seeing what the opportunities are to create the

          7  urgency around health insurance.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: And that would be

          9  the State to do that?

         10                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         11  CADOGAN: Yes, that really would be the State.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Maybe the Council

         13  should hurry up and have a resolution urging the

         14  State to do that.

         15                 I give her work all the time. I drive

         16  her crazy.

         17                 Okay, thank you very much.

         18                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         19  CADOGAN: Thank you. Thank you all.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Don't sit there

         21  any more.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Get out of here.

         23                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         24  CADOGAN: Or you'll come up with seven more good

         25  ideas.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: To be done for

          3  the year.

          4                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          5  CADOGAN: Okay.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: The year ends in

          7  December.

          8                 Next we have Michelle Holland,

          9  representing herself, the teachers and citizens; and

         10  Jennifer Marino Rojas from the Children's Defense

         11  Fund of New York.

         12                 Okay, I apologize we're brainstorming

         13  here. You just need to introduce yourselves for the

         14  record and then you can begin, which ever one wants

         15  to start first.

         16                 MS. HOLLAND: My name is Michelle

         17  Holland.

         18                 MS. MARINO ROJAS: Jennifer Marino

         19  Rojas with the Children's Defense Fund of New York.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: You can go first.

         21                 MS. HOLLAND: Good evening. First of

         22  all, forgive me if I stammer a little bit, I'm a

         23  little nervous in these sort of situations, public

         24  speaking. But, again, my name is Michelle Holland.

         25  I'm a Graduate Student, former New York City Board
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          2  of Education Teacher in the Bronx. I thank the

          3  Governmental Affairs and Health Committees for this

          4  opportunity to present testimony about the need to

          5  promote Child Health Plus in our schools.

          6                 I'm not a legal expert or a health

          7  care expert, rather I come here today with

          8  perspective as an educator in the Bronx.

          9                 Recently we have heard much debate in

         10  the media about the necessity to provide health care

         11  to all children. I think we are all in agreement

         12  that all children deserve the right to health

         13  insurance.

         14                 New York City children in particular

         15  need access to health care. As you know, the Food

         16  Distribution Center in Hunts Point may be a boost in

         17  our economy, but the resulting truck pollution comes

         18  at a heavy cost to the children in New York City,

         19  and the Bronx in particular.

         20                 The asthma epidemic in the Bronx is

         21  well known and well documented. The Bronx received a

         22  failing rate again for air quality by the American

         23  Lung Association.

         24                 We know that while there is no cure,

         25  there are ways to minimize asthma symptoms through
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          2  preventative care.

          3                 Child Health Plus offers services to

          4  manage asthma, including doctor visits and

          5  prescription drugs. While I applaud the City and

          6  State's effort to ensure all children, I believe the

          7  City also has an obligation to aggressively promote

          8  Child Health Plus, especially in the Bronx, so that

          9  all parents are aware of the program and able to

         10  take advantage of the many benefits it provides.

         11                 Promoting Child Health Plus in the

         12  schools makes the most logical sense because of the

         13  likelihood that parents will be able to see

         14  available applications and literature on a

         15  continuous basis when they pick up their children

         16  from school or attend school meetings.

         17                 Currently, many parents may not be

         18  aware this program exists, due to limited due to

         19  limited visibility. I do not see the problem with

         20  advertising a program to promote healthy children in

         21  schools.

         22                 I do see a problem in the fact that

         23  asthma is the number one cause of absenteeism in

         24  schools. In New York schools, excuse me. Yet, we

         25  know this problem can be avoided if children receive
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          2  proper medical care. Student absences are very

          3  challenging to the teacher who has to attempt to get

          4  the student caught up, often times at the expense at

          5  the rest of the class. Excessive student absences

          6  are damaging to the principals whose reviews depend

          7  partially on the school's attendance rates but most

          8  importantly to children who fall behind and often

          9  times act up because they cannot keep up with the

         10  class. Most teachers would probably tell you that

         11  the students who act up are the students who are

         12  having a hard time academically and are unable to

         13  pay attention.

         14                 The bottom line is healthy kids do

         15  better in school. I believe schools providing

         16  applications and information about Child Health Plus

         17  not only serves to increase awareness and thus

         18  enrollment in the program, but also sends an

         19  important message to parents that keeping kids

         20  healthy is vital to achieving academic success.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         23  much, Ms. Holland.

         24                 MS. MARINO ROJAS: Good evening. I'm

         25  Jennifer Marino Rojas with the Children's Defense
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          2  Fund New York.

          3                 Most of what I was going to say I

          4  think has already been said, so I'm not going to

          5  repeat myself and I have submitted my testimony for

          6  your review. I just wanted to highlight a couple of

          7  the issues that we have and let you know some things

          8  we've been working on, and I really want to thank

          9  you all very much because this conversation is

         10  something that we continue to struggle with, and I

         11  really am so happy to see that you're coming up with

         12  exciting and new ideas and really trying to think

         13  outside of the box about how we get our children

         14  enrolled in health coverage.

         15                 As you know, there are over 150,000

         16  children uninsured in New York City. You know that

         17  about 70 percent of them are eligible but remain

         18  uninsured, and we know the vast majority of them are

         19  school-aged or US citizens and live in families that

         20  are working.

         21                 Significantly when we look at New

         22  York State data, the number of uninsured children

         23  has remained stagnant, so even though there have

         24  been tremendous efforts made, we're not making much

         25  progress.
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          2                 New York City, when I saw the data

          3  recently, has made some progress, but we're not

          4  leaving as quickly as we need, and one of the

          5  problems is that we're losing children at renewal.

          6  There is a huge turning in all of our public health

          7  insurance systems, so that's another area that we

          8  need to think creatively about, how do we keep

          9  people and children in the system, that's part of

         10  where we're losing a lot of them.

         11                 As discussed, the barriers to

         12  enrollment is not just having the application. It's

         13  a very complicated process. There's a lot of

         14  documentation requirements. The immigration status,

         15  the questions do scare people away and very recently

         16  we heard that there was some misinformation being

         17  put out there that if you do get Child Health Plus,

         18  that makes you a public charge and that is not true,

         19  so we are working with some of the immigration

         20  groups to make sure that information is clear,

         21  because we know that we will lose families if

         22  they're afraid to come forward.

         23                 So, that the process is very

         24  complicated. The facilitated enrollers have been a

         25  huge success. And you've heard a lot about them. I
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          2  won't bore you with more details, but I do just want

          3  to say that that is a program I think you all need

          4  to support and expand. We've been working very hard

          5  to get the State to increase funds available for

          6  facilitated enrollers. They are in the communities

          7  with the families, they speak the languages, they

          8  understand the concerns of the families. And that's

          9  really what's needed to bring people into the

         10  system.

         11                 Again, many people do not know that

         12  they are eligible. Many people assume if they're

         13  working they're not eligible for these programs,

         14  which is not true. We have to, again, think of

         15  creative ways to let people know what the standard

         16  is so that everybody can come in. And it is

         17  unfortunate that New York's expansion did not go

         18  forward because we really thought then we could say

         19  everybody is eligible and get rid of that at the

         20  station. Hopefully, we're still fighting so

         21  hopefully we'll get something.

         22                 And lastly, I think one of the

         23  concerns that we have about putting the application

         24  in the schools is scaring people away. It is a very

         25  complicated application, and I know for myself, if I
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          2  see a long application for something, I just push it

          3  aside because I don't want to deal with it, and I

          4  think without having people who can really talk to

          5  somebody explain what they need, explain the whole

          6  process, I'm concerned the application may actually

          7  have the opposite effect.

          8                 That being said, I do think it's

          9  important to continue to put the application out

         10  there in every single way that we can. And I know

         11  the State is working out a large scale campaign on

         12  televisions, local newspapers, that should start

         13  early next year, and I'm hoping that we will be able

         14  to target it to some of these communities that we

         15  know have high levels of uninsured. And you know,

         16  the South Bronx is an area we actually did a lot of

         17  research on as well, and the health disparities here

         18  are just unacceptable. So, we will work with the

         19  State to make sure that they're targeting their

         20  efforts in an appropriate way.

         21                 So, a couple of recommendations that

         22  we have: We'd like to see the schools work more

         23  closely with the facilitated enrollers. We work very

         24  closely with the lead agencies in Downstate. After a

         25  survey, they are not as involved with the schools as
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          2  we think could be useful. The health plans are. The

          3  health plans have a lot more money to have their

          4  trucks and to help them with their signs. But the

          5  facilitated enrollers, really, as was said, have

          6  that understanding of the community, so if we could

          7  work with the Department of Education to build those

          8  linkages, to make them stronger, I think that's

          9  another place where we can really build some links

         10  so that you could contact those families.

         11                 Another area, the day care and the

         12  EITC that was mentioned earlier, there is a lot of

         13  means tested programs that touch the same families

         14  who are eligible for public health insurance, and we

         15  believe that there needs to be an automatic link

         16  between those programs. If you go in and apply for

         17  subsidized child care in New York City, you should

         18  be asked, do you have public health insurance? Would

         19  you like public health insurance, and ask them if

         20  they want to be followed up, have a facilitated

         21  enroller come and help them. It should be a

         22  proactive question by the person who is enrolling

         23  that child into child care. This can be done in the

         24  schools, with EITC. We can add a question on the

         25  EITC forms so that we can collect that information
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          2  and follow-up. And all of these ideas be brought to

          3  the State, as well, to try to make those links.

          4                 As Deputy Commissioner mentioned

          5  earlier, we can also do data matches. There are

          6  systems that capture all of these children. We would

          7  like to see the Department of Education work with

          8  HRA and the State to match public health insurance

          9  against the Department of Education rolls, then we

         10  could know exactly who was uninsured in the City and

         11  have follow-up.

         12                 These are the types of ideas that we

         13  think would be extremely effective, and I'm happy to

         14  work with the Council members to come up other

         15  plans. We can let you know more about what you're

         16  doing with the State. But there's a lot of ways, and

         17  I think that this conversation has been really

         18  great.

         19                 One more thing, I'm sorry. About

         20  mandating having public health insurance to go into

         21  school. I've actually been asked the question at a

         22  couple of hearings recently. And to be very honest,

         23  I don't think it's a good idea right now because

         24  this system, the enrollment process for public

         25  health insurance is still too complicated, and so
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          2  what you could end up having is a child who is

          3  uninsured and now not in school.

          4                 I think once we get the system fixed

          5  where it's much easier to enroll, then that would be

          6  a great way to make sure we capture all of those

          7  children.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: They just told me

         10  that my idea wasn't original. Another good idea.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 Council Member Maria Arroyo has a

         13  question and then Council Member Stewart.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO:

         15  Thank you both for your testimony.

         16                 You said the public health insurance

         17  application system is too complicated. What do we

         18  have to do to make it uncomplicated?

         19                 MS. MARINO ROJAS: I think we need to

         20  eliminate the face-to-face requirement for the

         21  children programs. We're only one of, I believe it's

         22  six other states, that require the face-to-face.

         23                 We need to eliminate some of the

         24  documentation requirements. In 2007, almost 2008,

         25  there is a lot of technology available, but we can
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          2  use third-party databases to check. In New York you

          3  can check vital records. If someone was born in New

          4  York you can determine their residency. You can

          5  check the third-party wage reporting databases.

          6  There soon will be hopefully a third-party insurance

          7  database to see if someone has private insurance, so

          8  if we could eliminate some of the documentation

          9  requirements by using this technology. Some of that

         10  is being eliminated at renewal already by just

         11  having self attestation. So, those are some ways

         12  that we can do it. I think shortening the

         13  application and making it just a simpler process.

         14  And we have a long list of legislative proposals

         15  that we shared with the State, and we're in a good

         16  place with the State with Governor Spitzer now.

         17  They're much more open to making these changes, but

         18  it will take time.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO:

         20  That's good to hear.

         21                 I didn't get whether you support the

         22  intro we're here discussing.

         23                 MS. MARINO ROJAS: I think it's a good

         24  idea to continue to put information out there. I'm

         25  not sure, as was stated earlier, if it's going to
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          2  get the result that is intended.

          3                 So, I am a little bit concerned, one,

          4  that it may actually scare people away, and the

          5  other is, from talking with the State, this would be

          6  money they would have to spend on applications. It's

          7  not a huge amount of money, but I would rather see

          8  them put that money into a more targeted outreach,

          9  to a personal outreach to families through either

         10  facilitated enrollments or other methods.

         11                 So, I won't say that I oppose it, I

         12  just think that there is a lot more that could be

         13  done.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO:

         15  Then this issue of available applications, it is

         16  on-line, I'm assuming we can download this

         17  application?

         18                 MS. MARINO ROJAS: I don't think

         19  that's the way New York City ACCESS works. I think

         20  you have to fill it out.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO:

         22  They're nodding.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Yes, you can

         24  download it, print it.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO: So,
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          2  you can. So, it's not an issue of the State giving

          3  us more paper?

          4                 MS. MARINO ROJAS: No. I think it's an

          5  issue for me of -- well, I used to work for the City

          6  so there is a lot of paper out there. I'm just

          7  afraid it will get lost and it won't have the

          8  intended effect. I don't think it's going to be a

          9  bad thing, which is why I won't say that I oppose

         10  it. I think that there are more effective ways of

         11  getting the message out there.

         12                 The application, as you've seen, it's

         13  complicated and can be very difficult.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO:

         15  It's very pretty though. Beautiful blue colors.

         16                 MS. MARINO ROJAS: I think if there

         17  could be, as I said, more targeted outreach, maybe

         18  improving some of the materials that are available

         19  that provide the information, the brochure, I forget

         20  which one is the name of it, has the listing of the

         21  facilitated enrollers. We really would like to see a

         22  more personal outreach.

         23                 I think I'm going to have a caveat to

         24  that. In the day care centers, because the family is

         25  there every day, usually, if there is somebody in
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          2  the day care program who can take the application,

          3  who has been a little bit trained in this program

          4  and can get into the parents and explain it, that

          5  would be I think more successful. But in the

          6  schools, in the public schools that won't happen. It

          7  will just be available and given to parents, and I'm

          8  afraid that it might confuse and scare people.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO: So

         10  the issue here that my colleagues here are giving

         11  each other a hard time about, you know, training

         12  Council staff to help take on the role of

         13  facilitated enrollers, if you will, to minimize the

         14  amount of errors or in that location being

         15  considered incomplete, I think there is some

         16  language in here that if it's incomplete it will not

         17  be accepted. So, the constituents services liaisons

         18  in my office, that's all they do is deal with and

         19  sit with the people that come into the office on a

         20  daily basis. And they talk to people about

         21  everything that anyone can have a problem about and

         22  take the time.

         23                 And I, from having a health care

         24  management background, I was involved in, I was one

         25  of the facilities that got a grant under the initial
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          2  Bronx Perinatal Consortium CHP enrollment program,

          3  and the staff in those centers are, they're doing

          4  this enrollment process, they're also registering

          5  patients and doing HIV counseling and God knows what

          6  else that organization needs them to do, you know,

          7  it was not a very long training process that they

          8  went through. They were very successful with the

          9  applications that they filled out, and they actually

         10  had a quota of the number of applications they were

         11  supposed to fill out on a regular basis.

         12                 So, I think that the offices that we

         13  have staff in doing all kinds of work, I think this

         14  can certainly be an opportunity, and I certainly

         15  hope that HRA and anybody else that needs to accept

         16  it, understand that we, we don't only write or

         17  suggest laws that could be perceived problematic by

         18  the agency that has to monitor it or enforce it, but

         19  that we stand ready to be part of making sure that

         20  we can increase service in what ever area it is that

         21  we can be helpful. And this is I think probably the

         22  best idea that has come out of this meeting.

         23                 MS. MARINO ROJAS: I think it would be

         24  great if City Council offices were placed where

         25  people could go to get information, and not just on

                                                            95

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS AND HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  health insurance but on other public benefits as

          3  well, so I absolutely support it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, next we

          5  have Council Member Kendall Stewart, then

          6  Councilwoman Inez Dickens.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

          8  You made a statement awhile ago, and I just want you

          9  to know that a public charge is a real fear to a

         10  number of folks, and I don't remember exactly if

         11  it's the 82 or the 96 law of immigration that when

         12  one is applying to become documented in this

         13  country, they have to get an affidavit to say that

         14  someone is supporting or they can support

         15  themselves. And based on that affidavit, there is

         16  that statement that there would be a public charge,

         17  that the person will be responsible, and that fear

         18  is real and I'm not too sure where it's at right

         19  now, but I know that --

         20                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: It's very

         21  sensitive.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Oh, I didn't

         23  know. We're not at City Hall now.

         24                 All right, anyhow, the fact is that

         25  in itself, that public charge, if someone has been
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          2  documented and it's not five years yet since they've

          3  been documented, and someone signs the affidavit,

          4  they feel that it's a problem that if they accept

          5  social services, whether it's Food Stamps or whether

          6  it's health care, or any form of social services,

          7  that there would be this public charge or they are

          8  fearful of that, I would like you to comment on

          9  that, if you will?

         10                 MS. MARINO ROJAS: With public health

         11  insurance, with children's Child Health Plus, it is

         12  not considered, it does not make somebody consider

         13  it a public charge. So, it is very important that

         14  people know that they can get children's health

         15  insurance and not be considered a public charge.

         16                 There was a lot of confusion out

         17  there, and I actually had a staff member who was at

         18  a presentation where wrong information was given. As

         19  part of our outreach and education efforts, we need

         20  to make sure that everybody knows that they are not

         21  a public charge by enrolling in children's Health

         22  Plus, Child Health Plus.

         23                 So that is certainly a huge issue,

         24  and there is a lot of talk about work on how do we

         25  target the immigrant communities to make sure that

                                                            97

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS AND HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  they're not afraid to come forward and enroll the

          3  children.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, next we

          5  have Councilwoman Inez Dickens.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you so

          7  much for your testimony.

          8                 What about emancipated youth? In

          9  other words, youth that may be 14, 15, homeless, can

         10  they apply for this?

         11                 MS. MARINO ROJAS: Child Health Plus?

         12  Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: I'm sorry, I

         14  should have asked you because I just don't know

         15  that.

         16                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: (Speaking from

         17  the audience) Yes, they can.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: They apply in

         19  their own? That was the question, thank you so much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: My Co-Chair?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I just wanted to,

         22  I'm sure you agree, I just wanted to thank the

         23  Commissioner for remaining, because very often we

         24  have hearings and sometimes the Administration's

         25  representatives speaks their mind and leaves. They
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          2  keep someone here, you know, someone from the staff,

          3  but the Commissioner usually doesn't stay, and

          4  there's nothing like having the top person

          5  responsible remaining, so we appreciate very much

          6  the fact that you remained.

          7                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          8  CADOGAN: I'm interested in hearing what everyone

          9  thinks about.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Well, I have a

         11  lot more I'd like to speak to you about.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: How much time do

         13  you have?

         14                 We're in the Bronx, don't worry about

         15  it.

         16                 Thank you very much, ladies.

         17                 MS. MARINO ROJAS: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you for

         19  coming.

         20                 Is there anybody else who is

         21  interested in testifying or sharing any ideas?

         22                 If you are, you do have to see the

         23  Sergeant-At-Arms, fill out the sheet.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Who signed up

         25  within 15 minutes of the beginning of the hearing.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: So that

          3  qualifies.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Seeing none --

          5                 MS. HOLLAND: Could I mention

          6  something?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: You could make on

          8  last comment.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Is there anyone

         10  else on Molten Avenue (phonetic) that would like to

         11  speak?

         12                 MS. HOLLAND: Pertaining specifically

         13  to the immigrant community, I feel that there were

         14  some drives in schools that were targeted in areas

         15  that had large immigrant communities. It just seems

         16  to me that a school that's more of a safe place,

         17  they are not going to be concerned about the

         18  ramifications of, you know, your status being

         19  revealed. Whereas, seeking a governmental office, I

         20  would think there would be more fear.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.

         22                 Seeing no one else, I want to thank

         23  everyone for coming out. And my Co-Chair here is

         24  going to bang my head if I don't bang the gavel.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Don't bang it too
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          2  loud. Very sensitive.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          4  much for joining us here in the Bronx.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 6:30 p.m.)
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